
MEETING NOTICE 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 

MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a Committee of the Whole Meeting of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook 
and Will Counties, Illinois will be held on Tuesday, December 17, 2019, beginning at 6:15 p.m. in Council 
Chambers, located in the Tinley Park Village Hall, 16250 South Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois 60477. 

 
The agenda is as follows: 
 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER. 
 

2. CONSIDER APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 
HELD ON DECEMBER 3, 2019.  
 

3. DISCUSS VERIZON WIRELESS MASTER POLE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF 
TINLEY PARK AND CHICAGO SMSA LIMITED PARTNERSHIP (D/B/A VERIZON WIRELESS). 
 

4. DISCUSS COOK COUNTY CLASS 7A RECLASSIFICATION FOR RICK WHITE OF PARK RIDGE 
MIDWEST REALTY GROUP, LLC (BANDANA’S BBQ) AT 16200 HARLEM AVENUE. 
 

5. DISCUSS PARATRANSIT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND 
PACE FOR THE “DIAL-A-RIDE” PROGRAM.  
 

6. RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC. 
 

 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
 

KRISTIN A. THIRION 
VILLAGE CLERK  



 

MINUTES 
Meeting of the Committee of the Whole 

 December 3, 2019 – 6:30 p.m. 
 Village Hall - Council Chambers 
 16250 S Oak Park Ave. 

Tinley Park, IL 60477 
 
Members Present:  M. Glotz, Village President Pro-Tem 
  K. Thirion, Village Clerk  
    C. Berg, Village Trustee 
    W. Brennan, Village Trustee 
    D. Galante, Village Trustee 
                          M. Mueller, Village Trustee (Via Telephone Conference Call) 
 
         
Members Absent:  J. Vandenberg, Village President 
    W. Brady, Village Trustee 
    
Staff Present:   D. Niemeyer, Village Manager 
    P. Carr, Assistant Village Manager 
    F. Reeder, Fire Chief 
    M. Walsh, Police Chief 
    K. Clarke, Community Development Director  
    B. Bettenhausen, Finance Director 
    D. Maiolo, Human Resources Director 
    H. Lipman, Management Analyst 
    P. Connelly, Village Attorney   
 
Others Present:    
   
          
Item #1 - The meeting of the Committee of the Whole was called to order at 6:32 p.m. on December 3, 
2019. 
 
President Pro-Tem Glotz stated that Trustee Mueller is participating in this meeting electronically by 
telephone conference call because of employment purposes. Trustee Mueller is prevented from 
physically attending this meeting due to employment purposes. Trustee Mueller acknowledged his 
participation via telephone conference call. 
 
Item #2 - CONSIDER APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE 
WHOLE MEETING HELD ON NOVEMBER 5, NOVEMBER 12, AND NOVEMBER 18 & 19, 
2019. – Motion was made by Trustee Berg, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to approve the minutes of the 
Committee of the Whole meeting held on November 5, November 12, and November 18 & 19, 2019.  
Vote by voice call. Ayes: Berg, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller. Nays: None. Absent: Brady.  
Village President Pro-Tem Glotz declared the motion carried. 
 
Item #3 - DISCUSS NEW CANNABIS LAW.  
Village Manager David Niemeyer presented an update regarding adult use cannabis.  He stated 
following the November 12, 2019, Committee of the Whole discussion on adult use cannabis, the 
Village posted a survey link for additional resident input on the topic. The survey asked to what extent 
the respondent supported or opposed the sale of adult use cannabis within the Village.  



 

Page 2 of 9 
 

 
Management Analyst, Hannah Lipman, presented the results of the survey. In total, over 2,700 surveys 
were completed. Roughly 68% of respondents somewhat support/strongly support retail dispensaries. 
About 66% of respondents somewhat support/ strongly support indoor cultivation centers. Similarly, 
66% of respondents also somewhat support/strongly support manufacturing facilities. On site 
consumption had just under 50% who strongly support this use, and an additional 9% who somewhat 
support it. 
 
The Village extended an invitation to the three (3) companies who had contacted the Village with 
interest in applying for a license with the state and potentially locating their business in Tinley Park to 
present at the COW. These three (3) companies were asked to share what the facilities may look like and 
how they run business operations, while keeping the discussion informational, not promotional. 
 
Jack Killackey, Dispensary GM of Earth Med, presented basic insight on medical, dual use, and 
recreational dispensaries. Mr. Killackey described the facility area breakdown of the various type’s 
layouts. He spoke to location of dispensaries, as well as, business operations, including day to day 
operations, inventory of product, consultation with customers, and dispensing of the product. Dispensary 
security was discussed. Mr. Killackey noted that purchasers must be at least 21 years of age or older.  
 
Trustee Brennan asked how employees are paid and how are their taxes distributed since cannabis is still 
illegal on the federal level. Mr. Killackey responded that a payroll company is used and employees are 
not issued 1099 forms. 
 
Trustee Galante asked if there was any issue with banking. Gus Koukoutsakis of Earth Med stated that 
they have not had any banking issues. Mr. Perez stated that Earth Med has a bank, however not all 
dispensaries do.  
 
President Pro-Tem Glotz asked if they had been issued an Early Adult Use dispensing license and a 
Conditional Adult Use dispensing license. Mr. Koukoutsakis responded Earth Med has a dual license 
and are permitted to sell as of January 1st and it looking for another location. 
 
Trustee Brennan asked where the first location was located. Mr. Koukoutsakis replied Addison. 
 
Trustee Mueller asked if a dispensary is shut down if there is a discrepancy found. Mr. Killackey stated 
that the dispensary is allowed to stay open. Within a short period of time, the dispensary is allowed to 
find out where the discrepancy occurred before notifying the state, however any adjustment to the 
inventory needs to be made through the state and documented.  
 
Trustee Mueller wanted to know if customer information is shared. Medical patient’s purchases are 
tracked. Recreational customers personal identifiers are not allowed to be collected without the 
customers consent. If the customer consents, Earth Med does not share this information. 
 
Community Development Director Kimberly Clarke asked how dispensaries utilize the storefront and if 
there are any state laws regarding this. Mr. Killackey responded that this is up to the individual 
dispensary, but per state law, windows must be tinted. He also noted that most of the product displays 
are empty packaging. 
 
President Pro-Tem Glotz if there were any other questions from the board or staff for Earth Med. There 
were none.  
 



 

Page 3 of 9 
 

At this time Ray Kalinsky, of Pulmonary Exchange stated that his company did not have a presentation 
but was open to answer questions. 
 
Trustee Glotz asked if he had been issued an Early Adult Use dispensing license and/or a Conditional 
Adult Use dispensing license. Mr. Kalinsky stated that no licenses have been issued unless they had a 
previous medical dispensing license issued. 
 
Trustee Brennan asked if he would be applying for a strictly recreational license. Mr. Kalinsky replied 
yes, as there are no other medical licenses available. 
 
At this time, Judy Taki representing Redemption Botanicals, spoke. She was the owner/operator of a 
medical dispensary in Champaign, Illinois.  
 
Ms. Taki went over the different types of products and explained that all product received by an Illinois 
dispensary, medical or recreational, comes prepackaged. It is labeled, lab tested for purity and for the 
percentage of cannabinoid’s and is in a child resistant package. The rules regarding cannabis are the 
same as alcohol; the package must be sealed when leaving the dispensary, and my not be opened until 
the purchaser arrives home and it is the responsibility of the agent at the dispensary to educate the 
purchaser of the Illinois rules. 
 
Attorney Rebecca Wing, representing Redemption Botanicals explained that all cannabis sold in Illinois 
but be grown and processed in Illinois. She noted the number of States that have legalized medical 
and/or recreational use and there are 47 licenses available in the Chicago-Naperville-Elgin region which 
Cook County is included.  
 
Ed Farrell, who provides full service security to dispensaries, went over the states security mandates. 
 
President Pro-Tem Glotz asked if the Illinois State Police have access to the dispensary’s security 
cameras. Ms. Taki explained that they do and before the opening inspection, the IP address must be 
given to them. President Pro-Tem Glotz also asked if there is security in the dispensary. Mr. Farrell 
responded that as of January 1st Illinois state law mandates that security is present in the dispensary. 
President Pro-Tem Glotz asked the number of staff in the dispensary. Ms. Taki replied that the state 
requires two (2) people, however that would be too few people she would have at least four or five 
employees. 
  
Mr. Farrell noted that business on a main road has greater exposure and does well. He stated that those 
stores within a business park can be difficult to find and it can take some time before the business takes 
off.  
 
President Pro-Tem Glotz noted that Tinley Park is a residential town. He prefers that a dispensary be in a 
more remote area. President Pro-Tem Glotz asked Mr. Farrell of the dispensaries that he provides 
security for, has there been any problems at the more remote locations needing police assistance. Mr. 
Farrell said he has not had any problems at either location. 
 
Trustee Berg stated the dispensaries are non-descript. 
 
Trustee Galante asked about the odor from the cannabis and stated that a recommendation should be 
made for dispensaries to only be located in standalone buildings. Ms. Taki said that there may be some 
odor within the vault room, however she did not receive any complaints from the other businesses in the 
shared building. 



 

Page 4 of 9 
 

 
Ms. Clarke stated that if the board decided not to opt out the next steps would be zoning. 
 
President Pro-Tem Glotz thanked Donna Framke and her staff for presenting the survey to the citizens. 
He felt that the survey did not reach as many people as he had hoped and feels that a many of the 
residents input is missing. He does not feel comfortable on voting on this item at this time.  
President Pro-Tem Glotz outlined five (5) options: 
 

1. Place a referendum on the March ballot; 
2. Vote on as is and decide if there will be any restrictions; 
3. Opt-out; 
4. Make it very restrictive so licenses cannot be obtained until results from other towns can be 

evaluated; and 
5. Send a mailer to all residents so that all voices can be heard.  

 
Dave Niemeyer, Village Manager, responded that the board can opt-in, opt-out and revisit this item, go 
to referendum or do another survey. 
 
Pat Connelly, Village Attorney, recommended that if the goal is to gather more input, he recommends 
that the Board pass a moratorium on the licenses before the first of the year.  
 
Trustee Brennan is in favor of a referendum. If the Board opts-out with the approach to see how other 
communities are effected before opting-in with careful and strategic approach to zoning and maximize 
tax revenues. 
 
Mr. Connelly noted that if a referendum will be used, language will need to be decided on rather quickly 
and this item would need to be placed on the next Village Board meeting.  
 
Clerk Thirion concurred with Trustee Brennan. 
 
Trustee Mueller is in favor of opting in with restrictive zoning. 
 
Trustee Galante concurs with Trustee Mueller. Her concern is the Village could miss out on one of the 
47 licenses offered by the State. 
 
Trustee Berg is in favor of opting in and begin working the zoning. 
 
Trustee Glotz is in favor of putting a referendum on the March 17, 2020 ballot.  
 
Mr. Connelly recommended that a vote on the moratorium should be taken before January 1st if more 
time is needed to make a decision. He stated that a moratorium is the most efficient next step. A vote on 
the moratorium should be taken at the next Village Board meeting.  
 
Mr. Niemeyer concurred with the Village Attorney.  
 
After discussion it was the consensus of the Board to place an item for moratorium for allowing 
dispensaries for recreational cannabis in the Village on the December 17, 2019, Village Board meeting 
agenda and to direct the Community Development staff to begin working on the zoning for these 
dispensaries.  
 
President Pro-Tem Glotz opened Public Comment regarding the cannabis item. 



 

Page 5 of 9 
 

 
A resident inquired about frosted windows, handicap accessible parking and the layout of a dispensary. 
He also stated that the greatest survey would be a vote of the residents, not an online survey. 
 
A resident asked Ms. Taki if she was representing medical or recreational cannabis. Ms. Taki replied she 
is applying for an Adult Use license. She also asked if she had any statistics on the accident rates within 
one hour of cannabis use. Ms. Wing explained that cannabis may not be consumed on the premises or in 
their vehicle therefore there are no statistics. She also asked if there was a sobriety test. Ms. Wing stated 
there is not. Police Chief Walsh explained current protocol will be used. If necessary, blood will be 
drawn. She expressed her opposition to dispensaries in the Village. 
 
A resident stated that there is time for the board to make decision as dispensaries will not be able to open 
on January 1st. She also commented on banking and financial tracking. 
 
A resident commented on on-site consumption and packaging. 
 
The board thanked the representatives for attending.  
 
 
Item #4 - DISCUSS AMENDMENTS TO PERSONNEL MANUAL. – Hannah L. presented changes 
to the personnel manual that were discussed at the September 10th Admin and Legal Committee were 
the following:  
 

1. Holidays: Continue to recognize 11 holidays. However, beginning in 2020, change Good Friday 
to a half-day holiday and make Christmas Eve a full day holiday. Impacts current, eligible staff.  

2. Tuition Reimbursement: Continue practice which requires approval by Department Head & 
Village Manager. However, for classes beginning after 1/1/20 (that have not already been 
approved by the Village Manager), the Village will reimburse 80% for ‘A’; 70% for ‘B’; 50% 
for ‘C’. Must remain employed for two (2) years or employee reimburses the Village 100%. 
Impacts current, eligible staff.  

3. Vacation: Only impacting eligible, new hires beginning 1/1/20, the schedule would be as 
follows. Borrow in advance request is eliminated, as staff will accrue time beginning on hire 
date.  

a. Executive Level Management: 22 days for 1-6 years of service; 25 days for 15+ years of 
service  

b. Civil Service and FT Appointed staff: 10 days for 1-6 years of service; 15 days for 7-10 
years of service; 20 days for 11-14 years of service; 25 days for 15+ years of service  

4. Sick and Disability: Staff recommended eligible, new hires would accrue sick time per pay 
period, up to 80 hours (10 days) per anniversary year. Accrued time could accrue into a sick 
bank up to 480 hours (60 days).  
 

Of the four (4) topics, sick and disability warranted further discussion. Staff has suggested the following 
options: 
 
Option (1): Similar to the current Ordinance practice, but limited to full pay only, eliminating partial 
compensation. Continue to group by years of service, but reduce time awarded.  

• No sick days may be awarded, accrued or carried over from year to year.  
• Eligible employees must have completed a minimum of six (6) months uninterrupted service 

with the Village in order to qualify.  



 

Page 6 of 9 
 

• If any eligible employee shall have received the full benefit provided to him/her based off 
service years, he or she will then be ineligible for additional sick and disability payments until 
afforded the benefit by reaching the next anniversary year.  

• This option provides eligible employees the opportunity to apply for benefits already afforded 
them through Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF). 

• Employees are not eligible if he/she is on layoff, suspension, or approved leave of absence 
without pay, for thirty (30) days or more.  

 
Option (1a): A variation to option (1) would be to group by years of service, similar to the current 
Ordinance practice, but cap the benefit schedule at five (5) weeks maximum. 
 
Option (2): Allow eligible employees to accrue (earn) 80 hours per year (10 days), beginning date of 
hire (accrued per pay period).  

• Maximum of eighty (80) hours of paid sick leave per year. This recommendation of hours is 
consistent with market data.  

• Unused sick time at the end of each year carries over into a ‘bank’ for the employee to use as 
needed.  

• The number of banked time may not exceed 480 hours (60 days).  
• Upon separation from employment, IMRF members may apply the balance of their sick bank 

toward IMRF service credit (max of 480 hours or (60) days).  
 
Option (2a): A variation to option (2) would be to award employees 64 hours per year (8 days), and 
allowing sick leave to be carried over into a bank not to exceed 320 hours (40 days).  
By means of comparison, Orland Park credits eligible employees with 64 hours annually (or 8 days). 
Employees are encouraged to be prudent in using this sick benefit, as they can carry over unused sick 
leave each year. Upon retirement, Orland Park pays the employee the current hourly rate or equivalent 
for every hour of sick time in excess of six hundred (600) hours, which the employee has accrued. While 
adopting a similar system of paying out employees could be an option, it is not recommended.  
 
Option 3: Allow eligible employees up to ten (10) sick days per calendar year. Days are not accrued, 
and there is no sick bank or carry over.  
Based on these parameters, employees with extended illnesses would be required to use personal and 
vacation days for additional paid time off. Once all personal and vacation time is exhausted, an 
employee can apply for IMRF temporary disability benefits. IMRF temporary disability benefits become 
effective after thirty (30) days without pay (on the 31st day) following the date an employee becomes 
disabled, if that employee is no longer receiving salary, sick, or vacation pay from the Village. This 
option—which is not in line with other communities—could potentially have a negative impact on 
recruitment, particularly for mid upper level positions.  
Any changes to sick and disability will only impact full time, non-collectively bargained, new hires. 
With that being said, the current Sick and Disability Ordinance applies to collective bargaining units, and 
therefore, negotiations would be required in order to make any future changes. 
 
Motion was made by President Pro-Tem Glotz, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to recommend Option 3 
above regarding sick days. Also recommended are staff recommendations regarding holidays, tuition 
reimbursement, and vacation time. Vote by voice call. President Pro-Tem Glotz declared the motion 
carried. 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 7 of 9 
 

Item #5 - DISCUSS AMENDMENT TO TITLE III CHAPTER 43 OF THE TINLEY PARK 
MUNICIPAL CODE ENTITLED “PUBLIC COMMENT”. – P. Connelly presented the proposed 
amendments to public comment policy. Changes are being proposed to be in line with the most recent 
decisions from the Attorney General’s office.  

1. The purpose of this policy is to ensure that citizens are allowed time to present their views 
pertaining to issues concerning the Village of Tinley Park while permitting the Board 
Committee or Commission to conduct their meetings in an effective manner.  

2. All public comments are limited to six (6) minutes, and each person shall only be permitted 
to speak once; however, at Regular and Special Village Board meetings each person shall be 
allowed to speak once in accordance with this policy, on each agenda item other than consent 
agenda items that are presented for final adoption. All public comment at special Village 
Board, Special Commission, or Special Committee Meetings must be germane to items on 
that particular Special meeting.  

3. The Chairperson shall preserve order and decorum. Any person who engages in threatening 
or disorderly behavior when addressing a Board, Commission, or Committee shall be deemed 
out-of-order by the Chairperson and their time ceased to address the Board, Commission, or 
Committee at said meeting. 

President Pro-Tem Glotz asked if there was any comments from the Board. There were none. 
 
Motion was made by President Pro-Tem Glotz, seconded by Trustee Brennan to recommend adopting 
the proposed amendments, to Title III, Chapter 43 of the Tinley Park municipal code entitled “Public 
Comment” to the board. Vote by voice call. President Pro-Tem Glotz declared the motion carried. 
 
Item #6 - DISCUSS SEWER ASSESSMENT CONTRACT. -  Dave N. explained that this project 
was awarded to Sewer Assessment Services of Schaumburg approximately 18 months ago. The work 
was successfully completed in a timely and accurate manner. However, it was determined that the 
contract with the recommended contractor had not been submitted for Village Board approval before the 
work was undertaken. 
 
Motion was made by President Pro-Tem Glotz, and seconded by Trustee Berg, to recommend approval 
of a contract, to perform sanitary sewer investigations to Sewer Assessment Services, LLC, to the board. 
Vote by voice call. President Pro-Tem Glotz declared the motion carried. 
 
Item #7 - DISCUSS A SUBAWARD AGREEMENT WITH THE COUNTY OF COOK - 
HOMELAND SECURITY (ALPR TECHNOLOGY SYSTEM PROJECT). – Pat Carr, Assistant 
Village Manager, provided the next step required to accept the Homeland Security Grant is to pass 
resolution 2019-R-116 accepting the award from Cook County to the Village. In July of 2019, the 
Village was notified of the pending award of $233,000 with a Village match of $20,000 for the 
automatic license plate recognition (ALPR) Technology System Project.  
 
President Pro-Tem Glotz asked if there was any comments from the Board. There were none. 
 
Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, and seconded by Trustee Galante, to recommend approval the 
Cook County Homeland Security (ALPR Technology System Project) to the Village Board. Vote by 
voice call. President Pro-Tem Glotz declared the motion carried. 
  
 
 



 

Page 8 of 9 
 

Item #8 - DISCUSS COOK COUNTY MULTI-JURISDICTIONAL ALL HAZARDS 
MITIGATION PLAN. – Pat C., presented the resolution updating the multi-jurisdictional hazards 
mitigation plan.  Beginning in 2011, the Tinley Park Emergency Management department, under the 
direction of Cook County Emergency Management and Regional Security began the planning and 
development process for a multi-jurisdictional hazard mitigation program (HMP). Resolution 2019-R-
118 is the five (5) year update to this plan which was approved by the Illinois Emergency Management 
Agency and the Federal Emergency Management Agency, Region V. 
 
President Pro-Tem Glotz asked if there was any comments from the Board. There were none. 
 
Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, and seconded by Trustee Berg, to recommend approval of the 
Cook County Multi-Jurisdictional All Hazards Mitigation Plan, to the Village Board. Vote by voice call. 
President Pro-Tem Glotz declared the motion carried. 
 
Item #9- DISCUSS PARATRANSIT AGREEMENT WITH PACE. – Motion was made by Trustee 
Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to postpone this item to the December 17, 2019 Committee of 
the Whole meeting. Vote by voice call. President Pro-Tem Glotz declared the motion carried. 
 
Item #10 - DISCUSS ETHICS CODE REVISIONS. – Dave N., presented an overview of the 
duplicative nature of the Village’s economic disclosure statement with the Cook County disclosure 
statement. He also made note of the costs involved with the Village’s disclosure statement. Mr. 
Niemeyer recommended that the Village officials continue to adhere to the Cook County system with 
nothing beyond those requirements. Mr. Connelly concurred with Mr. Niemeyer and presented 
Ordinance 2019-O-080, amending Title III, Chapter 39, Sections 14-20 pertaining to Annual Ethics 
Disclosure.   

A. For purpose of this Section 14, each elected official of the Village, and certain appointees and 
employees are required by 5 ILCS 420/4A-101 to file a statement of economic interest. 

B. By May 1 of each year, each such elected official, appointee and employee shall file a 
photocopy of the Statement of Economic Interest as required by 5 ILCS 420/4A-101 that is 
required to be filed with the County Clerk. Such statement shall be filed with the Village 
Clerk. If a person required to file such statement fails to file by May 1 of any year, the Village 
Clerk shall notify such person with seven days after May 1 of his or her failure to file and such 
person shall not be considered in violation of this Article until May 15 of any year for failure 
to file such statement.  

Trustee Mueller asked if the Village’s current disclosure statement went above and beyond the Cook 
County’s disclosure statement. Mr. Niemeyer and Mr. Connelly stated that it does. 

President Pro-Tem Glotz asked if there was any comments from the Board. There were none. 
 
Motion was made by President Pro-Tem Glotz, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to recommend approval of 
the revisions to Title III Chapter 39, Sections 14-20 Pertaining to the Annual Ethics Disclosures, to the 
Village Board. Vote by voice call.  President Pro-Tem Glotz declared the motion carried. 
 
Item #11 - RECEIVE UPDATE ON RESPONSIBLE BIDDER ORDINANCE. – Mr. Connelly 
presented an update on the responsible bidder ordinance that will clarify certain aspects of what a 
responsible bidder is for Public Works contracts, including but not limited to bid submission 
requirements, incomplete bids and low bids.  
 
President Pro-Tem Glotz asked if there was any comments from the Board. There were none. 



 

Page 9 of 9 
 

 
Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Glotz to recommend approval, of the 
amendments to Title V of the Tinley Park Municipal Code and Establishing Chapter 54 Entitled 
“Responsible Bidder Requirements on Public Works Projects, to the Village Board. Vote by voice call. 
President Pro-Tem Glotz declared the motion carried. 
 
 
Item #12 – RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC – A retired public works employee 
expressed concern regarding possible changes to retiree’s spousal medical coverage. 
 
Steven Eberhardt expressed concerns with the Ethics Disclosure and why the proposed Ordinance was 
not included in the committee packet. Mr. Connelly explained that the while the agenda was released on 
time, the attorney’s office was working on the ordinance up until the day of the December 3, 2019 
Committee of the Whole meeting.  
 
Maury Lapin, an employee asked Mr. Niemeyer to clarify the proposed retirement insurance. Mr. 
Niemeyer responded that they are still working on the details and should be completed soon. 
 
A resident presented concerns he has with construction dirt and spoils that have been near his property. 
President Pro-Tem Glotz replied the Community Development Director has been addressing this issue. 
Mr. Connelly also commented on the complicated nature of the ownership of the property. 
 
Chris Halper, a resident, is producing a documentary on the Tinley Park Mental Health Center and 
expressed his concerns with the security at the property.  
 
Nancy O’Connor noted that the situation between the Tinley Park Mental Health Center and the Illinois 
Environmental Protection Agency is in process. She also asked what the differences between the current 
and the proposed Ethics ordinances are. Mr. Connelly explained the changes. 
 
A resident commented that she would like a referendum regarding the cannabis decision.   
 
President Pro-Tem Glotz asked if there was any one else wished to address the Board. There were none. 
 
Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Berg, to adjourn the Committee of the 
Whole. Vote by voice call. President Pro-Tem Glotz declared the motion carried and adjourned the 
meeting at 8:45 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 



1 
 

 
 
 
Date:  December 17, 2019 
 
To:   Mayor & Board of Trustees 

Dave Niemeyer, Village Manager 
 
From:  Kimberly Clarke, Director of Community Development 
 
Subject: Verizon Wireless Master Pole Attachment Agreement for Small Cell Co-

Location on Village-Owned Utility Poles 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
S.B. 1451, known as Small Wireless Facilities Deployment Act (the Act) was approved by the Illinois 
General Assembly and signed by Governor Rauner into law in April 2018. This law established 
state-wide regulations for collocation of small cell antennas located within the public right-of-way 
and on private commercial and industrial properties. The Village subsequently passed a Small Cell 
Regulation Ordinance in July 2018 and small cell design guidelines in June 2019 to retain as much 
control as possible over the siting and design of small cell antennas in public right-of-ways. 
 
The proposed Master Pole Agreement is based off the Illinois Municipal League’s (IML) Model 
Agreement, with only minor changes to keep consistent code references and terminology. The 
overarching agreement with Verizon will permit the location of small cell wireless equipment on 
the Village’s municipally-owned utility poles. Separate supplements for each pole co-location will 
be approved administratively by the Village Manager. Each supplement is approved for a duration 
of five years. This agreement sets the highest permit fees and annual rent as permitted by the Act. 
Additionally, bonds are required for each pole to ensure removal of equipment and restoration of 
the site if the small cell use is discontinued or an early termination agreement is initiated. The 
Master Pole/Attachment Agreement is required to avoid having to complete new agreements for 
each pole, which can be time-consuming and has little advantage due to the Act’s set 
requirements. In the event the Act is repealed or changed (such as an increase to maximum rent), 
the Village will have the option to change the small cell ordinance and attachment agreements. 
 
A similar agreement was approved with AT&T Wireless in May 2019. The agreements are almost 
identical with the exception of some changes to the insurance section to be more in-line with 
industry standards. All changes were reviewed and approved by the Village Attorney. It is expected 
that there will be identical agreements for the remaining carriers in the near future.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The attached Resolution and Master Pole Attachment Agreement with Verizon Wireless were 
drafted and presented based on the recommendation of the Illinois Municipal League, Village 

Interoffice   

Memo 



2 
 

Attorney, and Village Planning staff. This item was presented and discussed at the Committee of 
the Whole on December 17, 2019 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Adopt the attached Resolution and Master Pole Attachment Agreement with Verizon Wireless as 
presented. 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Resolution 
2. Verizon Master Pole Agreement 

 



 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 
NO. 2019-R-120 

 

 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A MASTER POLE ATTACHMENT 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND 

CHICAGO SMSA LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
 

 
 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
CYNTHIA A. BERG 

WILLIAM P. BRADY 
WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 

DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
Board of Trustees 

 
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 
200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606 

  
  



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2019-R-120 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A MASTER POLE ATTACHMENT 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND 

CHICAGO SMSA LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) desires to enter into a Master Pole 
Attachment Agreement (“Agreement”) with Chicago SMSA Limited Partnership d/b/a Verizon 
Wireless (“Chicago SMSA”), attached hereto as Exhibit 1, pertaining to the installation, 
maintenance, and operation of small cell wireless facilities in the Village; and   

 
WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 

Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Agreement with Chicago SMSA; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION 1:  The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2: The President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby find that 
it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents that the aforesaid Agreement be entered into 
with Chicago SMSA, and that the Village President is hereby authorized to execute said 
Agreement on behalf of the Village, with said Agreement to be substantially in the form attached 
hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit 1, subject to review and revision as to form by the Village 
Attorney. 
 
SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 



SECTION 4: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Resolution in 
pamphlet form, and this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 
 
PASSED THIS 17th day of December, 2019. 
 
AYES:              

NAYS:              

ABSENT:              

APPROVED THIS 17th day of December, 2019. 

 

       ____________________________________ 
                      VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
ATTEST: 

__________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK  



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 
COUNTY OF WILL  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Resolution No. 2019-R-120, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING A MASTER POLE 

ATTACHMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND 

CHICAGO SMSA LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,” which was adopted by the President and Board 

of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 17, 2019 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 17th day of December, 2019. 

 

       ____________________________________ 
       KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

 
 
 
 



1 
 

 

MASTER POLE ATTACHMENT AGREEMENT 

This Master Pole Attachment Agreement (“Agreement”) made this _____day of 
____________, 20___, between the VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, with its principal offices 
located at 16250 S. Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, IL 60477, hereinafter designated 
LICENSOR and Chicago SMSA Limited Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wireless, whose principal 
place of business is One Verizon Way, Mail Stop 4AW100, Basking Ridge, NJ 07920, 
hereinafter designated LICENSEE.  LICENSOR and LICENSEE are at times collectively 
referred to hereinafter as the "Parties" or individually as the "Party." 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, LICENSOR is the owner, of certain utility poles, wireless support structures, 
and/or real property, which are located within the geographic area of a license to provide 
wireless services licensed by the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) to LICENSEE; 
and  
 

WHEREAS, LICENSEE desires to install, maintain and operate small wireless facilities 
in and/or upon certain of LICENSOR's utility poles, wireless support structures and/or real 
property; and 

 
WHEREAS, LICENSOR and LICENSEE acknowledge that any term used in this 

Agreement that is defined in Chapter 106 “Small Wireless Facilities” of Title IX “General 
Regulations” of the Tinley Park Municipal Code (as now or hereafter amended “Chapter 106”) 
shall have the meaning provided therein; and 

 
WHEREAS, LICENSOR and LICENSEE acknowledge that the terms of this Agreement 

are nondiscriminatory, competitively neutral and commercially reasonable; and 
 
 WHEREAS, LICENSOR and LICENSEE desire to enter into this Agreement to define 
the general terms and conditions which would govern their relationship with respect to particular 
sites at which LICENSOR may wish to permit LICENSEE to install, maintain and operate small 
wireless facilities as hereinafter set forth; and 
 

WHEREAS, the LICENSOR and LICENSEE intend to promote the expansion of 
communications services in a manner consistent with the Small Wireless Facilities Deployment 
Act (“Act”), the Illinois Cable and Video Competition Act, the Illinois Telephone Company Act, 
the Telecommunications Act of 1996, the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012, 
the Simplified Municipal Telecommunications Tax Act, 35 ILCS 636/5-1, et. seq. and Federal 
Communication Commission Regulations; and 
 
 WHEREAS, LICENSOR and LICENSEE acknowledge that they will enter into a License 
Supplement (“Supplement”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A, with respect to any 
particular location or site which the Parties agree to license; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Parties acknowledge that different related entities may operate or 
conduct the business of LICENSEE in different geographic areas and as a result, each 
Supplement may be signed by LICENSEE affiliated entities as further described herein, as 
appropriate based upon the entity holding the FCC license in the subject geographic location.  



2 
 

 
 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and 
intending to be legally bound hereby, the Parties hereto agree as follows: 
 
1) PREMISES.  Pursuant to all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the 

applicable Supplement, LICENSOR agrees to license to LICENSEE that certain space on or 
upon LICENSOR's utility poles, and/or wireless support structures as more fully described in 
each Supplement to be executed by the Parties hereinafter referred to as the “Premises”,  
for the installation, operation, maintenance, repair and modification of small wireless 
facilities; together with the non-exclusive right of ingress and egress from a public right-of-
way, seven (7) days a week, twenty four (24) hours a day, over the Property (as defined 
below) and to and from the Premises for the purpose of installation, operation, maintenance, 
repair and modification of LICENSEE’s small wireless facilities.  The LICENSOR’s utility 
poles, wireless support structures and other poles and towers are hereinafter referred to as 
“Pole” and the entirety of the LICENSOR’s property is hereinafter referred to as "Property".  
In the event there are not sufficient electric and telephone, cable or fiber utility sources 
located at the Premises or on the Property, LICENSOR agrees to grant LICENSEE the right 
to install such utilities on, over and/or under the Property and to the Premises as necessary 
for LICENSEE to operate its communications facility, but only from the duly authorized 
provider of such utilities, provided the location of such utilities shall be designated by 
LICENSOR.   

2) PERMIT APPLICATION.  For each small wireless facility, LICENSEE shall submit an 
application to LICENSOR for a permit that includes: 

a) Site specific structural integrity and, for LICENSOR’S utility pole or wireless support 
structure, make-ready analysis prepared by a structural engineer, as that term is defined 
in Section 4 of the Structural Engineering Practice Act of 1989; 

b) The location where each proposed small wireless facility or utility pole would be installed 
and photographs of the location and its immediate surroundings depicting the utility 
poles or structures on which each proposed small wireless facility would be mounted or 
location where utility poles or structures would be installed. This should include a 
depiction of the completed facility;  

c) Specifications and drawings prepared by a structural engineer, as that term is defined in 
Section 4 of the Structural Engineering Practice Act of 1989, for each proposed small 
wireless facility covered by the application as it is proposed to be installed;  

d) The equipment type and model numbers for the antennas and all other wireless 
equipment associated with the small wireless facility;  

e) A proposed schedule for the installation and completion of each small wireless facility 
covered by the application, if approved;  

f) Certification that the collocation complies with LICENSOR’s Small Wireless Facilities 
Ordinance requirements, to the best of the applicant’s knowledge; and 

g) The application fee due. 

3) APPLICATION FEES. Application fees are subject to the following requirements: 



3 
 

a) LICENSEE shall pay an application fee of $650 for an application to collocate a single 
small wireless facility on an existing utility pole or wireless support structure and $350 for 
each small wireless facility addressed in a consolidated application to collocate more 
than one small wireless facility on existing utility poles or wireless support structures. 

b) LICENSEE shall pay an application fee of $1,000 for each small wireless facility 
addressed in an application that includes the installation of a new utility pole for such 
collocation. 
 

c) Notwithstanding any contrary provision of State law or local ordinance, applications 
pursuant to this Section must be accompanied by the required application fee. 
 

d) LICENSOR shall not require an application, approval, or permit, or require any fees or 
other charges, from LICENSEE, for: 
i) routine maintenance; or 
ii) the replacement of wireless facilities with wireless facilities that are substantially 

similar, the same size, or smaller if LICENSEE notifies LICENSOR at least 10 days 
prior to the planned replacement and includes equipment specifications for the 
replacement of equipment consistent with the requirements of this Agreement; or 

iii) the installation, placement, maintenance, operation, or replacement of small wireless 
facilities that are suspended on cables that are strung between existing utility poles 
in compliance with applicable safety codes, provided this provision does not 
authorize such facilities to be suspended from municipal electric lines, if any.  

LICENSEE shall secure a permit from LICENSOR to work within rights-of-way for 
activities that affect traffic patterns or require lane closures. 

4) REQUIREMENTS.  

a) LICENSEE's operation of the small wireless facilities shall not interfere with the 
frequencies used by a public safety agency for public safety communications. 
LICENSEE shall install small wireless facilities of the type and frequency that will not 
cause unacceptable interference with a public safety agency's communications 
equipment. Unacceptable interference will be determined by and measured in 
accordance with industry standards and the FCC's regulations addressing unacceptable 
interference to public safety spectrum or any other spectrum licensed by a public safety 
agency. If a small wireless facility causes such interference, and LICENSEE has been 
given written notice of the interference by the public safety agency, LICENSEE, at its 
own expense, shall take all reasonable steps necessary to correct and eliminate the 
interference, including, but not limited to, powering down the small wireless facility and 
later powering up the small wireless facility for intermittent testing, if necessary. The 
LICENSOR may terminate a permit for a small wireless facility based on such 
interference if LICENSEE is not making a good faith effort to remedy the problem in a 
manner consistent with the abatement and resolution procedures for interference with 
public safety spectrum established by the FCC including 47 CFR 22.970 through 47 
CFR 22.973 and 47 CFR 90.672 through 47 CFR 90.675.  



4 
 

b) LICENSEE shall not install devices on the existing utility pole or wireless support 
structure that extend beyond ten (10) feet of the pole’s existing height. 

c) LICENSEE shall install pole mounted equipment at a minimum of eight (8) feet from the 
ground. 

d) LICENSEE shall be limited to one (1) cabinet or other ground mounted device for ground 
mounted installations. 

e) LICENSEE shall paint or otherwise camouflage antennas, mounting hardware, and other 
devices to match or complement the structure upon which they are being mounted. 

f) LICENSEE shall install landscaping at the base of poles with respect to any ground 
equipment installed by LICENSEE on which devices are being installed as required by 
the LICENSOR’s Small Wireless Facilities Ordinance, Zoning Ordinance or Landscape 
Code, to the extent applicable.  

g) LICENSEE shall, to the extent applicable, comply with all the terms and conditions of 
Chapter 103 “Construction of Utility Facilities in Public Rights-of-Way” of Title IX 
“General Regulations” of the Tinley Park Municipal Code (as now or hereafter amended 
“Chapter 103”) and Chapter 106 in regards to construction of utility facilities in public 
rights-of-way. 

h) LICENSEE shall comply with applicable requirements that are imposed by a contract 
between the LICENSOR and a private property owner that concern design or 
construction standards applicable to utility poles and ground-mounted equipment located 
in the right-of-way. 

i) LICENSEE shall comply with applicable spacing requirements in Chapter 106 and the 
Zoning Ordinance concerning the location of ground-mounted equipment located in the 
right-of-way. 

j) LICENSEE shall, to the extent applicable, comply with Chapter 103 and Chapter 106 
and the Zoning Ordinance concerning undergrounding requirements or determinations 
from the municipal officer or employee in charge of municipal utilities, if any.  

k) LICENSEE shall, to the extent applicable, comply with Chapter 103 and Chapter 106 
and the Zoning Ordinance for construction and public safety in the rights-of-way, 
including, but not limited to, wiring and cabling requirements, grounding requirements, 
utility pole extension requirements, and signage limitations; and shall comply with 
reasonable and nondiscriminatory requirements that are consistent with PA 100-0585 
and adopted by LICENSOR regulating the location, size, surface area and height of 
small wireless facilities, or the abandonment and removal of small wireless facilities. 

l) LICENSEE shall not collocate small wireless facilities within the communication worker 
safety zone of the pole or the electric supply zone of the pole on LICENSOR utility poles 
that are part of an electric distribution or transmission system. However, the antenna and 
support equipment of the small wireless facility may be located in the communications 
space on the LICENSOR utility pole and on the top of the pole, if not otherwise 
unavailable, if LICENSEE complies with Chapters 103 and Chapter 106 and the Zoning 
Ordinance for work involving the top of the pole. For purposes of this subparagraph, the 



5 
 

terms "communications space", "communication worker safety zone", and "electric 
supply zone" have the meanings given to those terms in the National Electric Safety 
Code as published by the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers. 

m) LICENSEE shall comply with all applicable Village ordinances or codes that concern 
public safety. 

n) LICENSEE shall install, maintain, repair and modify its small wireless facilities in safe 
condition and good repair and in compliance with the requirements and conditions of this 
Agreement. LICENSEE shall ensure that its employees, agents or contractors that 
perform work in connection with its small wireless facilities are adequately trained and 
skilled in accordance with all applicable industry and governmental standards and 
regulations. 

o) LICENSEE shall comply with Chapter 103 and the applicable Zoning Ordinance 
requirements for decorative utility poles, or stealth, concealment, and aesthetic 
requirements that are identified by LICENSOR in the Zoning Ordinance, Legacy Plan or 
other written design plan that applies to other occupiers of the rights-of-way, including on 
a historic landmark, in a historic district or in LICENSOR’s Legacy District. 

p) LICENSEE shall comply with the applicable design or concealment measures in a 
historic district or historic landmark set forth in Chapter 103 and the Zoning Ordinance. 
With respect to an application for the collocation of a small wireless facility on a 
decorative pole, LICENSOR may propose that the small wireless facility be collocated on 
an existing pole or existing wireless support structure within 100 feet of the proposed 
collocation, which LICENSEE shall accept so long as the alternate location and structure 
does not impose technical limits or additional material costs as determined by 
LICENSEE. In the absence of an agreement to collocate on an alternate location, 
LICENSEE will conceal or enclose its small wireless facility and associated equipment 
as much as is technically feasible on LICENSOR’s decorative pole. 

Any such design or concealment measures, including restrictions on a specific category 
of poles, may not have the effect of prohibiting any LICENSEE’s technology. Such 
design and concealment measures shall not be considered a part of the small wireless 
facility for purposes of the size restrictions of a small wireless facility. This paragraph 
may not be construed to limit LICENSOR’s enforcement of historic preservation in 
conformance with the requirements adopted pursuant to the Illinois State Agency 
Historic Resources Preservation Act or the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, 
54 U.S.C. Section 300101 et seq. and the regulations adopted to implement those laws.  

 
5) APPLICATION PROCESS. LICENSOR shall process applications as follows: 

a) An application to collocate a small wireless facility on an existing utility pole, replacement 
of an existing utility pole or wireless support structure owned or controlled by LICENSOR 
shall be processed by LICENSOR and deemed approved if LICENSOR fails to approve 
or deny the application within ninety (90) days. However, if LICENSEE intends to 
proceed with the permitted activity on a deemed approved basis, LICENSEE must notify 
LICENSOR in writing of its intention to invoke the deemed approved remedy no sooner 
than seventy five (75) days after the submission of a completed application. The permit 
shall be deemed approved on the latter of the 90th day after submission of the complete 



6 
 

application or the 10th day after the receipt of the deemed approved notice by 
LICENSOR. The receipt of the deemed approved notice shall not preclude LICENSOR's 
denial of the permit request within the time limits as provided under the Act. 

 

b) An application to collocate a small wireless facility that includes the installation of a new 
utility pole shall be processed and deemed approved if LICENSOR fails to approve or 
deny the application within one hundred twenty (120) days. However, if LICENSEE 
applicant intends to proceed with the permitted activity on a deemed approved basis, the 
applicant must notify LICENSOR in writing of its intention to invoke the deemed 
approved remedy no sooner than one hundred five (105) days after the submission of a 
completed application. The permit shall be deemed approved on the latter of the 120th 
day after submission of the complete application or the 10th day after the receipt of the 
deemed approved notice by LICENSOR. The receipt of the deemed approved notice 
shall not preclude LICENSOR's denial of the permit request within the time limits as 
provided under the Act. 

c) LICENSOR shall approve an application unless the application does not meet the 
applicable requirements of Chapter 106. 

  
d) If LICENSOR determines that applicable codes, local code provisions or regulations that 

concern public safety, or the requirements of Chapter 106,  require that the utility pole or 
wireless support structure be replaced before the requested collocation, approval may 
be conditioned on the replacement of the utility pole or wireless support structure at the 
cost of LICENSEE. LICENSOR must document the basis for a denial, including the 
specific code provisions or application conditions on which the denial was based, and 
send the documentation to LICENSEE on or before the day LICENSOR denies an 
application. LICENSEE may cure the deficiencies identified by LICENSOR and resubmit 
the revised application once within thirty (30) days after notice of denial is sent to the 
applicant without paying an additional application fee. LICENSOR shall approve or deny 
the revised application within thirty (30) days after LICENSEE resubmits the application 
or it is deemed approved. However, LICENSEE must notify LICENSOR in writing of its 
intention to proceed with the permitted activity on a deemed approved basis, which may 
be submitted with the resubmitted application.  Any subsequent review shall be limited to 
the deficiencies cited in the denial. However, this revised application cure does not apply 
if the cure requires the review of a new location, new or different structure to be 
collocated upon, new antennas, or other wireless equipment associated with the small 
wireless facility. 
 

e) COMPLETENESS OF APPLICATION. Within thirty (30) days after receiving an 
application, the LICENSOR shall determine whether the application is complete and 
notify the applicant. If an application is incomplete, the LICENSOR shall specifically 
identify the missing information. An application shall be deemed complete if the 
LICENSOR fails to provide notification to the applicant within thirty (30) days after all 
documents, information and fees specifically enumerated in the LICENSOR’s permit 
application form are submitted by the applicant to the LICENSOR. Processing deadlines 



7 
 

are tolled from the time the LICENSOR sends the notice of incompleteness to the time 
the applicant provides the missing information. 

f) TOLLING. The time period for applications may be further tolled by the express 
agreement in writing by both LICENSOR and LICENSEE; or a local, State or federal 
disaster declaration or similar emergency that causes the delay. 

g) CONSOLIDATED APPLICATIONS. A LICENSEE seeking to collocate small wireless 
facilities within the jurisdiction of LICENSOR shall be allowed, at LICENSEE's discretion, 
to file a consolidated application and receive a single permit for the collocation of up to 
twenty five (25) small wireless facilities if the collocations each involve substantially the 
same type of small wireless facility and substantially the same type of structure. If an 
application includes multiple small wireless facilities, LICENSOR may remove small 
wireless facility collocations from the application and treat separately small wireless 
facility collocations for which incomplete information has been provided or that do not 
qualify for consolidated treatment or that are denied. LICENSOR may issue separate 
permits for each collocation that is approved in a consolidated application. 

 
6) COLLOCATION COMPLETION DEADLINE. Collocation for which a permit is granted shall 

be completed within one hundred eighty (180) days after issuance of the permit, unless 
LICENSOR and LICENSEE agree to extend this period or a delay is caused by make-ready 
work for a LICENSOR utility pole or by the lack of commercial power or backhaul availability 
at the site, provided LICENSEE has made a timely request within sixty (60) days after the 
issuance of the permit for commercial power or backhaul services, and the additional time to 
complete installation does not exceed three hundred sixty (360) days after issuance of the 
permit. Otherwise, the permit shall be void unless LICENSOR grants an extension in writing 
to the LICENSEE. 
 

7) DURATION OF PERMITS AND SUPPLEMENTS. The duration of a permit and the initial 
Supplement shall be for a period of five (5) years, and the permit and Supplement shall be 
renewed for equivalent durations unless LICENSOR makes a finding that the small wireless 
facilities or the new or modified utility pole do not comply with the applicable codes or local 
code provisions or regulations in Chapter 106.  If P.A. 100-0585 is repealed as provided in 
Section 90 of the Act, renewals of permits shall be subject to the LICENSOR’s code 
provisions or regulations in effect at the time of renewal. 

 
8) EXTENSIONS.  Each Supplement may be extended for additional five (5) year terms unless 

LICENSEE terminates it at the end of the then current term by giving LICENSOR written 
notice of the intent to terminate at least three (3) months prior to the end of the then current 
term. The initial term and all extensions under a Supplement shall be collectively referred to 
herein as the "Term".  Notwithstanding anything herein, after the expiration of this 
Agreement, its terms and conditions shall survive and govern with respect to any remaining 
Supplements in effect until their expiration or termination.  

 
9) RENTAL. Each Supplement shall be effective as of the date of execution by both Parties 

(the "Effective Date"), provided, however, the initial term of each Supplement shall be for 
five (5) years and shall commence on the first day of the month following the day that 
LICENSEE commences installation of the equipment on the Premises (the “Commencement 



8 
 

Date”) at which time rental payments shall commence and be due at a total annual rental as 
set forth in the Supplement, to be paid in advance annually on the Commencement Date 
and on each anniversary of it in advance, to the LICENSOR in the Supplement (unless 
LICENSOR otherwise designates another payee and provides notice to LICENSEE).  
LICENSOR and LICENSEE acknowledge and agree that the initial rental payment for each 
Supplement shall not actually be sent by LICENSEE until thirty (30) days after the 
Commencement Date. LICENSOR and LICENSEE agree that they shall acknowledge in 
writing the Commencement Date of each Supplement.  Rental for the use of any poles 
pursuant to this Agreement, shall be an annual fee of $200.00 per each wireless facility 
which LICENSEE attaches to LICENSOR’s pole. Thereafter, rent will be due at each annual 
anniversary of the “Commencement Date” of the applicable Supplement. Upon agreement 
of the Parties, LICENSEE may pay rent by electronic funds transfer and in such event, 
LICENSOR agrees to provide to LICENSEE bank routing information for such purpose upon 
request of LICENSEE. 
 

10)  ABANDONMENT. A small wireless facility that is not operated for a continuous period of 
twelve (12) months shall be considered abandoned and the LICENSEE must remove the 
small wireless facility within ninety (90) days after receipt of written notice from LICENSOR 
notifying LICENSEE of the abandonment.  

The notice shall be sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, by 
LICENSOR to the LICENSEE at the last known address of LICENSEE. If the small wireless 
facility is not removed within ninety (90) days of such notice, LICENSOR may remove or 
cause the removal of such facility and charge said costs to the LICENSEE.  

LICENSEE shall provide written notice to LICENSOR of any sale or transfer of small 
wireless facilities not less than thirty (30) days prior to such transfer and said notice shall 
include the name and contact information of the new wireless provider. 
 

11) CONDITION OF PREMISES. Where the Premises includes one or more Poles, LICENSOR 
covenants that it will keep the Poles in good repair as required by all federal, state, county 
and local laws. If the LICENSOR fails to make such repairs including maintenance within 
sixty (60) days, of any notification to LICENSOR, the LICENSEE shall have the right to 
cease annual rental for the affected poles, but only if the poles are no longer capable of 
being used for the purpose originally contemplated in this Agreement or otherwise do not 
comply with existing law. If LICENSEE terminates, LICENSEE shall remove its small 
wireless facility. Termination of this Agreement shall be the LICENSEE’s sole remedy. 

 
12) MAKE READY TERMS. LICENSOR shall not require more make-ready work than required 

to meet applicable codes or industry standards. Make-ready work may include work needed 
to accommodate additional public safety communications needs that are identified in a 
documented and approved plan for the deployment of public safety equipment as specified 
and included in an existing or preliminary LICENSOR or public service agency plan. Fees for 
make-ready work, including any LICENSOR utility pole attachment, shall not exceed actual 
costs or the amount charged to communications service providers for similar work and shall 
not include any consultants’ fees or expenses for LICENSOR utility poles that do not support 
aerial facilities used to provide communications services or electric service. Make-ready 
work, including any pole replacement, shall be completed within sixty (60) days of written 



9 
 

acceptance of the good-faith estimate by the LICENSOR at the LICENSEE’s sole cost and 
expense. Unless otherwise agreed by the parties, any make-ready work, including pole 
replacements, shall be performed by the LICENSEE or its qualified contractor. 

 
13) AERIAL FACILITIES. For LICENSOR utility poles that support aerial facilities used to 

provide communications services or electric services, LICENSEE shall comply with the 
process for make-ready work under 47 U.S.C. 224 and its implementing regulations. 
LICENSOR shall follow a substantially similar process for such make-ready work except to 
the extent that the timing requirements are otherwise addressed in Chapter 106. The good-
faith estimate of the person owning or controlling LICENSOR’s utility pole for any make-
ready work necessary to enable the pole to support the requested collocation shall include 
LICENSOR utility pole replacement, if necessary. Make-ready work for utility poles that 
support aerial facilities used to provide communications services or electric services may 
include reasonable consultants’ fees and expenses. 

 
14) NO AERIAL FACILITIES. For LICENSOR utility poles that do not support aerial facilities 

used to provide communications services or electric services, LICENSOR shall provide a 
good-faith estimate for any make-ready work necessary to enable the LICENSOR utility pole 
to support the requested collocation, including pole replacement, if necessary, within ninety 
(90) days after receipt of a complete application. Make-ready work, including any 
LICENSOR utility pole replacement, shall be completed within sixty (60) days of written 
acceptance of the good-faith estimate by LICENSEE at LICENSEE’s sole cost and expense. 
Alternatively, if LICENSOR determines that applicable codes or public safety regulations 
require the LICENSOR’s utility pole to be replaced to support the requested collocation, 
LICENSOR may require LICENSEE to replace LICENSOR’s utility pole at LICENSEE’s sole 
cost and expense. 
 

15) GENERAL RESTRICTIONS.  In the event LICENSOR, in its reasonable discretion deems it 
necessary to remove, relocate or replace a Pole, LICENSOR shall notify LICENSEE at least 
one hundred eighty (180) days prior of the need to remove or relocate its small wireless 
facility. In such event, LICENSOR shall provide options for alternative locations for 
LICENSEE relocation of equipment which shall be in a mutually agreeable location 
(“Alternative Premises”). LICENSEE shall be solely responsible for all costs related to the 
relocation of its small wireless facility to the Alternative Premises. In the event that a suitable 
Alternative Premises cannot be identified, LICENSEE may terminate the applicable 
Supplement. In the event of an emergency, which for purposes of this Agreement shall be 
considered any imminent threat to health, safety and welfare of the public, LICENSOR must 
provide as much notice as reasonably practical under the circumstances. LICENSEE may 
terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to the other party specifying the date of 
termination, such notice to be given not less than one hundred eighty (180) days prior to 
the date specified therein. 
 

16) ELECTRICAL. LICENSEE shall be permitted to connect its equipment to necessary 
electrical and telephone service, at LICENSEE’s expense.  LICENSEE shall attempt to 
coordinate with utility companies to provide separate service to LICENSEE’s equipment for 
LICENSEE use.  In the event that LICENSEE can obtain separate electrical service with a 
separate meter measuring usage, the LICENSEE shall pay the utility directly for its power 



10 
 

consumption, if billed directly by the utility.   In the event that separate electrical service is 
not possible or practical under the circumstances, LICENSEE may use existing service, at 
LICENSEE’s expense, upon the reasonable approval of LICENSOR.   In the event that 
LICENSEE uses existing utility service at an individual Premises, the Parties agree to either: 
(i) attempt to have a sub-meter installed, at LICENSEE’s expense, which shall monitor 
LICENSEE’s utility usage (with a reading and subsequent bill for usage delivered to 
LICENSEE by either the applicable utility company or LICENSOR); or (ii) provide for an 
additional fee in the applicable Supplement which shall cover LICENSEE’s utility usage.  
The Parties agree to reflect power usage and measurement issues in each applicable 
Supplement.  
 

17) TEMPORARY POWER. LICENSEE shall be permitted at any time during the Term of each 
Supplement, to install, maintain and/or provide access to and use of, as necessary (during 
any power interruption at the Premises), a temporary power source, and all related 
equipment and appurtenances within the Premises, or elsewhere on the Property in such 
locations as reasonably approved by LICENSOR.  LICENSEE shall be permitted to connect 
the temporary power source to its equipment on the Premises in areas and manner 
approved by LICENSOR. 

 
18) USE; GOVERNMENTAL APPROVALS.  LICENSEE shall use the Premises for the purpose 

of constructing, maintaining, repairing and operating small wireless facilities and uses 
incidental thereto.  LICENSEE shall have the right to replace, repair and modify equipment, 
antennas and/or conduits or any portion thereof and the frequencies over which the 
equipment operates, in conformance with the original Supplement. It is understood and 
agreed that LICENSEE's ability to use the Premises is contingent upon its obtaining after the 
execution date of each Supplement all of the certificates, permits and other approvals 
(collectively the "Governmental Approvals") that may be required by any Federal, State or 
Local authorities as well as a satisfactory building structural analysis which will permit 
LICENSEE use of the Premises as set forth above.  In the event that (i) any of such 
applications for such Governmental Approvals should be finally rejected; (ii) any 
Governmental Approval issued to LICENSEE is canceled, expires, lapses, or is otherwise 
withdrawn or terminated by governmental authority; or (iii) LICENSEE determines that such 
Governmental Approvals may not be obtained in a timely manner, LICENSEE shall have the 
right to terminate the applicable Supplement.  Notice of LICENSEE's exercise of its right to 
terminate shall be given to LICENSOR in accordance with the notice provisions set forth in 
Paragraph 23 and shall be effective upon the mailing of such notice by LICENSEE, or upon 
such later date as designated by LICENSEE.  All rentals paid to said termination date shall 
be retained by LICENSOR.  Upon such termination, the applicable Supplement shall be of 
no further force or effect except to the extent of the representations, warranties and 
indemnities made by each Party to the other thereunder.  Otherwise, the LICENSEE shall 
have no further obligations for the payment of rent to LICENSOR for the terminated 
Supplement.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Paragraph, LICENSEE shall 
continue to be liable for all rental payments to the LICENSOR until all equipment is removed 
from the Property. 
 

19) INSURANCE.  LICENSEE shall carry, at LICENSEE's own cost and expense, the following 
insurance: (i) property insurance for its property's replacement cost against all risks; (ii) 



11 
 

workers' compensation insurance, as required by law; or (iii) commercial general liability 
insurance with respect to its activities on LICENSOR improvements or rights-of-way to afford 
protection limits consistent with the requirements of this Section. LICENSEE shall include 
LICENSOR as an additional insured as their interest may appear on the required 
commercial general liability policy and provide a certificate of insurance as and blanket 
additional insured endorsement as documentation of inclusion of LICENSOR in such 
commercial general liability policy. 

LICENSEE may self-insure all or a portion of the insurance coverage and limit requirements 
required by LICENSOR. If LICENSEE self-insures it is not required, to the extent of the self-
insurance, to comply with the requirement for the naming of additional insureds under this 
Section. If LICENSEE elects to self-insure it shall provide to LICENSOR evidence sufficient 
to demonstrate LICENSEE’s or its affiliated parent’s financial ability to self-insure the 
insurance coverage and limits required by LICENSOR. 

(A)   Required coverages and limits. Licensee shall secure and maintain the following 
liability insurance policies insuring the utility as named insured and including naming the 
village, and its elected and appointed officers, officials,  and employees as additional 
insureds as their interest may appear under this Agreement on the policies listed in 
division (A)(1) and (2) below: 

      (1)   Commercial general liability insurance, including premises-operations, explosion, 
collapse, and underground hazard (commonly referred to as “X,” “C,” and “U” coverages) 
and products-completed operations coverage with limits of: 

         (a)   Five million dollars per occurrence for bodily injury (including death) and for 
property damage; and 

         (b)   Five million dollars general aggregate; 
      (2)   Commercial Automobile liability for owned, non-owned and hired vehicles with a 

combined single limit of $1,000,000 each accident for bodily injury and property damage; 
      (3)   Worker’s compensation with statutory limits; and 
      (4)   Employer’s liability insurance with limits of $ 1,000,000 each accident, $1,000,000 

disease-each employee, $1,000,000 disease policy limit. 
(B)  Copies required. Licensee shall provide certificates of insurance evidencing the policies 

required by this section.  
(C) Upon receipt of notice from its insurer(s), Licensee shall provide the Licensor with thirty 

(30) days’ prior written notice of cancellation of any coverage required herein.  
(D) Effect of insurance and self-insurance on Licensee’s liability. The legal liability of the 

Licensee to the Licensor and any person for any of the matters that are the subject of 
the insurance policies or self-insurance required by this section shall not be limited by 
such insurance policies or self-insurance or by the recovery of any amounts thereunder. 

 
20) INDEMNIFICATION. LICENSEE shall indemnify and hold LICENSOR harmless against any 

and all liability or loss from personal injury or property damage resulting from or arising out 
of, in whole or in part, the use or occupancy of LICENSOR’s improvements or right-of-way 
associated with such improvements by LICENSEE or its employees, agents, or contractors 
arising out of the rights and privileges granted under this Agreement and PA 100-0585. 
LICENSEE has no obligation to indemnify or hold harmless against any liabilities and losses 
as may be due to or caused by the sole negligence of LICENSOR or its employees or 
agents. LICENSEE hereby further waives any claims that LICENSEE may have against the 
LICENSOR with respect to consequential, incidental, or special damages, however caused, 
based on the theory of liability. 



12 
 

 
21) REMOVAL AT END OF TERM.  LICENSEE shall, upon expiration of the Term, or within 

ninety (90) days after any earlier termination of a Supplement remove its equipment, 
conduits, fixtures and all personal property and restore the Premises to its original condition, 
reasonable wear and tear and casualty damage not caused by LICENSEE excepted.  
LICENSOR agrees and acknowledges that all of the equipment, conduits, fixtures and 
personal property of LICENSEE shall remain the personal property of LICENSEE and 
LICENSEE shall have the right to remove the same at any time during the Term, whether or 
not said items are considered fixtures and attachments to real property under applicable 
laws.  If such time for removal causes LICENSEE to remain on the Premises after 
termination of the Supplement, LICENSEE shall pay rent at the then existing monthly rate or 
on the existing monthly pro-rata basis if based upon a longer payment term, until such time 
as the removal of the antenna structure, fixtures and all personal property are completed. 

 
22) RIGHTS UPON SALE.  Should LICENSOR, at any time during the Term of any Supplement 

decide to sell or transfer all or any part of the Property such sale or grant of an easement or 
interest therein shall be under and subject to the Supplement and any such purchaser or 
transferee shall recognize LICENSEE's rights hereunder and under the terms of the 
Supplement.  

 
23) NOTICES.  All notices hereunder must be in writing and shall be deemed validly given if 

sent by certified mail, return receipt requested or by commercial courier, provided the 
courier's regular business is delivery service and provided further that it guarantees delivery 
to the addressee by the end of the next business day following the courier's receipt from the 
sender, addressed as follows (or any other address that the Party to be notified may have 
designated to the sender by like notice): 

LICENSOR:  
Community Development Director 
Village of Tinley Park 
16250 S. Oak Park Avenue 
Tinley Park, IL 60477 

Copy to: 
Patrick G Connelly 
Peterson, Johnson & Murray Chicago, LLC 
200 West Adams St., Suite 2125  
Chicago, IL 60606 
 
LICENSEE:  
 
Chicago SMSA Limited Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wireless 
180 Washington Valley Road 
Bedminster, NJ 07921 
Attention Network - Real Estate  
  
with a copy sent to: 
   
Chicago SMSA Limited Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wireless 



13 
 

1515 E Woodfield Rd 
10th Floor 
Schaumburg, IL 60173 

Attn: Network Legal 

Either Party may change the addressee and/or location for the giving of notice to it by 
providing a thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the other Party. 

Notice shall be effective upon actual receipt or refusal as shown on the receipt obtained 
pursuant to the foregoing. 

24) CASUALTY.  In the event of damage by fire or other casualty to the Pole or Premises that 
cannot reasonably be expected to be repaired within forty-five (45) days following same or, if 
the Pole or Property is damaged by fire or other casualty so that such damage may 
reasonably be expected to disrupt LICENSEE's operations at the Premises for more than 
forty-five (45) days, then LICENSEE may, at any time following such fire or other casualty, 
provided LICENSOR has not completed the restoration required to permit LICENSEE to 
resume its operation at the Premises, terminate the Supplement upon fifteen (15) days prior 
written notice to LICENSOR.  Any such notice of termination shall cause the Supplement to 
expire with the same force and effect as though the date set forth in such notice were the 
date originally set as the expiration date of the Supplement and the Parties shall make an 
appropriate adjustment, as of such termination date, with respect to payments due to the 
other under the Supplement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the rent shall abate during the 
period of repair following such fire or other casualty in proportion to the degree to which 
LICENSEE’s use of the Premises is impaired. 

25) DEFAULT. In the event there is a breach by a Party with respect to any of the provisions of 
this Agreement or its obligations under it, the non-breaching Party shall give the breaching 
Party written notice of such breach. After receipt of such written notice, the breaching Party 
shall have thirty (30) days in which to cure any breach, provided the breaching Party shall 
have such extended period, not to exceed ninety (90) days, as may be required beyond the 
thirty (30) days if the breaching Party commences the cure within the 30-day period and 
thereafter continuously and diligently pursues to cure to completion. The non-breaching 
Party may maintain any action or affect any remedies for default against the breaching Party 
subsequent to the 30-day cure period, as potentially extended to ninety (90) days based on 
circumstances. 
 

26) REMEDIES. In the event of a default by either Party with respect to a material provision of 
this Agreement, without limiting, other than by the specific terms of this Agreement, the non-
defaulting Party in the exercise of any right or remedy which the non-defaulting Party may 
have by reason of such default, the non-defaulting Party may terminate the applicable 
Supplement and/or pursue any remedy now or hereafter available to the non-defaulting 
Party under the Laws or judicial decisions of the state of Illinois. Further, upon a default, the 
non-defaulting Party may at its option (but without obligation to do so), perform the 
defaulting Party’s duty or obligation on the defaulting Party’s behalf, including but not limited 
to the obtaining of reasonably required insurance policies. The costs and expenses of such 
performance by the non-defaulting Party shall be due and payable by the defaulting Party 
upon invoice therefor.  



14 
 

 
27) APPLICABLE LAWS.  During the Term, LICENSOR shall maintain the Property and the 

Pole in compliance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, directives, 
covenants, easements, zoning and land use regulations, and restrictions of record, permits, 
building codes, (collectively “Laws”).  LICENSEE shall, in respect to the condition of the 
Premises and at LICENSEE’s sole cost and expense, comply with (a) all Laws relating 
solely to LICENSEE’s specific and unique nature of use of the Premises; and (b) all building 
codes requiring modifications to the Premises due to the improvements being made by 
LICENSEE in the Premises.  It shall be LICENSOR’s obligation to comply with all Laws 
relating to the Pole in general, without regard to specific use (including, without limitation, 
modifications required to enable LICENSEE to obtain all necessary building permits). 

 
28) RIGHTS UNDER EXISTING LAWS; CHANGE OF LAW.  This Agreement is not intended to 

in any way limit or waive either Party’s present or future rights under applicable state and 
federal law.  If any law sets forth a term or provision that is inconsistent with or different than 
this Agreement, then the Parties agree to promptly amend the Agreement to effect the term 
or provision set forth under the law. 
 

29) BOND.  LICENSEE shall deposit with LICENSOR on one occasion prior to the 
commencement of the first Supplement a bond in a form reasonably acceptable to 
LICENSOR in the amount of $10,000 per small wireless facility to guarantee the safe and 
efficient removal of any equipment from any Premises subject to this Agreement, which 
equipment remains more than ninety (90) days after rental payment has ceased and 
LICENSEE has failed to remove the equipment.  The funds may also be used to restore the 
premises to original condition, if LICENSEE fails to do so. 

 
30) MISCELLANEOUS.  This Agreement and the Supplements that may be executed from time 

to time hereunder contain all agreements, promises and understandings between the 
LICENSOR and the LICENSEE regarding this transaction, and no oral agreement, promises 
or understandings shall be binding upon either the LICENSOR or the LICENSEE in any 
dispute, controversy or proceeding.  This Agreement may not be amended or varied except 
in a writing signed by all Parties.  This Agreement shall extend to and bind the heirs, 
personal representatives, successors and assigns hereto.  The failure of either Party to 
insist upon strict performance of any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement or to 
exercise any of its rights hereunder shall not waive such rights and such Party shall have 
the right to enforce such rights at any time.  The performance of this Agreement via each 
Supplement shall be governed interpreted, construed and regulated by the laws of the state 
of Illinois. 

 
31) EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement and any Supplements may be 

executed in multiple counterparts, including by counterpart facsimiles or scanned email 
counterpart signature, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all such counterparts 
once assembled together shall constitute one integrated instrument. 

 
32) AUTHORIZATION.  LICENSEE certifies and warrants that it has the authority to enter into 

this Agreement. 



15 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have set their hands and affixed their 
respective seals the day and year first above written. 

 

LICENSOR: 

Village of Tinley Park, an Illinois Municipal Corporation 

 

BY: 

Name: _____________________________ 

Title: ______________________________ 

Date:_______________________________ 
 

 

LICENSEE: 

Chicago SMSA Limited Partnership 
 

BY: 

Name: _____________________________ 

Title: ______________________________  

Date:      



 

16 
 

EXHIBIT "A" 

LICENSE SUPPLEMENT 

 This License Supplement (“Supplement”), is made this ____ day of _______, _______, 
between the Village of Tinley Park, whose principal place of business is 16250 S. Oak Park 
Avenue, Tinley Park, IL 60477 (“LICENSOR”), and Chicago SMSA Limited Partnership d/b/a 
Verizon Wireless, whose principal place of business is One Verizon Way, Mail Stop 4AW100, 
Basking Ridge, NJ 07920, whose principal place of business is 1025 Lenox Park Blvd. NE 3rd 
Floor Atlanta, Georgia 30319 (“LICENSEE”). 

 

1.  Master License Agreement.  This Supplement is a Supplement as referenced in that 
certain Master License Agreement between the Village of Tinley Park and Chicago SMSA 
Limited Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wireless,, dated ________ ____, 20___, (the “Agreement”).  
All of the terms and conditions of the Agreement are incorporated herein by reference and made 
a part hereof without the necessity of repeating or attaching the Agreement.  In the event of a 
contradiction, modification or inconsistency between the terms of the Agreement and this 
Supplement, the terms of this Supplement shall govern.  Capitalized terms used in this 
Supplement shall have the same meaning described for them in the Agreement unless 
otherwise indicated herein. 

 

2.  Premises.  The Property owned by LICENSOR is located at 
___________________________________.  The Premises licensed by the LICENSOR to the 
LICENSEE hereunder is described on Exhibit “1” attached hereto and made a part hereof.   

 

3.  Term. The Commencement Date and the Term of this Supplement shall be as set forth 
in Paragraph 7 of the Agreement.  

 

4. Consideration.  Rent under this Supplement shall be $200.00 per year, payable to 
LICENSOR at ___________________.  Thereafter, rent will be due at each annual anniversary 
of the “Commencement Date” of this Supplement. LICENSEE shall obtain electrical service and 
provide for a separate meter and billing from the applicable utility provider.   
 
 
5. Site Specific Terms. (Include any site-specific terms) 
 
 



 

17 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have set their hands and affixed their 
respective seal the day and year first above written. 
 
LICENSOR 
 
Village of Tinley Park, an Illinois Municipal Corporation 
       

BY: 

Name: __________________________ 

Title: ___________________________ 

Date:     ________ 

 

 

 

 

LICENSEE 
Chicago SMSA Limited Partnership 
 
BY: 
Name: __________________________ 
Title: ___________________________ 
Date:       
 

  



 

18 
 

EXHIBIT 1 OF LICENSE SUPPLEMENT 

Premises 

(see attached site plans) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

Date:   December 17, 2019  
 
To:   Mayor & Board of Trustees 

Dave Niemeyer, Village Manager 
 

From:   Kimberly Clarke, Director of Community Development 
  
Subject:   16200 S. Harlem Avenue Class 7a 
 
BACKGROUND 
Rick White (Applicant) of Park Ridge Midwest Realty 
Group, LLC. (Bandana’s) plans to invest $400,000 – 
$450,000 in the vacant 4,245 SF commercial space 
located at 16200 S. Harlem Avenue in Tinley Park. 
This location has been 100% vacant and unused since 
April 2015 and requires significant improvements. 
 
On February 5, 2019, the Village Board approved 
Ordinance 2019-O-008 designating the area known as 
159th and Harlem Avenue as blighted. This designation is the first requirement to qualify for Cook 
County’s Class 7 Assessment Program. The blighted designation allows for current / future developers 
and businesses the ability to immediately access Cook County Class 7 incentives with Village approval 
to attract investment in high vacancy and underdeveloped areas. The subject property is located within 
the designated blighted area outlined within the ordinance and is therefore eligible to apply for Class 7 
incentives.  
The Applicant has retained the counsel of Sarnoff and Baccash, a property tax law firm located in 
Chicago, Illinois, to assist with preparing the Class 7a application for Village and Cook County 
submittal. 
 
DISCUSSION 
This case was unamously approved by the Economic Commercial Commission at their December 9, 
2019 meeting and discussed at the Committee of the Whole meeting on December 17, 2019. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Adopt the attached Resolution supporting and consenting to the filing of a class 7A Application and 
Finding the Class 7A Necessary for Development to occur at 16200 S. Harlem Avenue 
 
Attachments: 

1. Resolution  
2. Request Letter & Application 



 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 
NO. 2019-R-125 

 

 
 

A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING AND CONSENTING TO THE FILING OF A CLASS 
7A APPLICATION AND FINDING THE CLASS 7A NECESSARY FOR 

DEVELOPMENT TO OCCUR AT 16200 S. HARLEM AVENUE 
 

 
 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
CYNTHIA A. BERG 

WILLIAM P. BRADY 
WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 

DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
Board of Trustees 

 
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 
200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606 

  
  



2 
 

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2019-R-125 

 
A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING AND CONSENTING TO THE FILING OF A CLASS 

7A APPLICATION AND FINDING THE CLASS 7A NECESSARY FOR 
DEVELOPMENT TO OCCUR AT 16200 S. HARLEM AVENUE 

 
WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) desires to attract new industry, 
stimulate the expansion and retention of existing industry, and increase employment opportunities 
in the Village; and  

 
WHEREAS, Cook County has instituted a program to encourage commercial 

development known as the Cook County Real Property Classification Ordinance (“Tax Incentive 
Ordinance”); and  

 
WHEREAS, said Tax Incentive Ordinance provides a Class 7a incentive that is designed 

to encourage commercial development throughout Cook County by offering real estate tax 
incentives for the development of new commercial facilities, the rehabilitation of existing 
commercial structures, and the commercial reutilization of abandoned buildings; and 

 
WHEREAS, Rick White on behalf of Park Ridge Midwest Realty Group, LLC.  

(“Bandana’s”), desires to redevelop certain real property located at 16200 S. Harlem Avenue, 
Tinley Park, Illinois (“Subject Property”), legally described in the attached Exhibit 1, PIN: 27-24-
202-022-0000, in reliance on the Class 7a incentives and to plans to relocate its headquarters to 
said Subject Property, which is presently a vacant structure; and  

 
WHEREAS, Bandana’s would find it difficult to relocate and construct at the Subject 

Property given the current tax liability on the Subject Property but for said Class 7a incentive, 
which provides a reduced assessment of ten percent (10%) of fair market value of the Property for 
the first ten years, fifteen percent (15%) for the eleventh year, and twenty percent (20%) for the 
twelfth year; and 

 
 



3 
 

WHEREAS, said Subject Property does not have a Class 7a incentive applied to the 
Subject Property and Bandana’s seeks approval from the Village to consent and support said Class 
7a incentive to be applied to the Subject Property; and  

WHEREAS, the Village has determined that the Subject Property meets the requirements 
necessary for approving the request for certain tax incentives, and by allowing said reclassification 
will further promote the economic viability of the Subject Property which is aligned with the 
Village’s desire to attract new industry, stimulate the expansion and retention of existing industry, 
and increase employment opportunities in the Village; and  

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve the request submitted by Bandana’s and consent and support the Class 7a 
reclassification of the Subject Property; and   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION 1:  The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2: That the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby 
approves the request submitted by Bandana’s and supports and consents to the Class 7a 
reclassification and has determined that the commercial use of the Subject Property by Bandana’s 
for its new restaurant location at the Subject Property is both necessary and beneficial to the 
Village. 
 
SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 
SECTION 4: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Resolution in 
pamphlet form, and this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 
 
  



4 
 

PASSED THIS 17th day of December, 2019. 
 
AYES:              

NAYS:              

ABSENT:              

APPROVED THIS 17th day of December, 2019. 

 

       ____________________________________ 
                      VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK  



5 
 

STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 
COUNTY OF WILL  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Resolution No. 2019-R-125, “A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING AND CONSENTING 

TO THE FILING OF A CLASS 7A APPLICATION AND FINDING THE CLASS 7A 

NECESSARY FOR DEVELOPMENT TO OCCUR AT 16200 S. HARLEM AVENUE,” which 

was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 

17, 2019.  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Tinley Park this 17th  day of December, 2019. 

 

 

       ____________________________________ 
       KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



6 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT 1 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 
Legal Description, Site and Building Square Footage  
The total land area of the subject parcel located at 16200 S. Harlem Ave. in Tinley Park, Illinois 
(PINs: 27-24-202-022-0000) is approximately 48,351 square feet, and the total building area is 
approximately 4,245 square feet.  
 
PARCEL I:  
LOT 5 IN SUPER-K SUBDIVISION, BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF LOTS 4 TO 11 IN PARK 
PLACE, A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER (1/4) OF THE 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER (1/4) AND PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER (1/4) OF THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER (1/4) OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, ACCORDING TO THE 
PLAT THEREOF RECORDED MARCH 20, 1997 AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 97195157.  
 
PARCEL II:  
PERMANENT RECIPROCAL AND NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENTS FOR THE BENEFIT OF 
PARCEL I FOR, USE OF PARKING AREAS AND COMMON AREAS; USE OF ENTRANCES, 
EXITS, DRIVEWAYS, WALKS, SERVICE DRIVES, DIRECTIONAL SIGNS, AND LIGHTING 
FACILITIES; INGRESS, EGRESS, ACCESS, AND PARKING FOR VEHICULAR OR 
PEDESTRIAN TRAFFIC OVER PARKING AREAS, ENTRANCES, EXITS, DRIVEWAYS, 
WALKS, AND SERVICE DRIVES; USE OF STORM DRAINAGE AND RETENTION 
FACILITIES, LANDSCAPING, PUBLIC REST ROOMS, OTHER PUBLIC FACILITIES AND 
DIRECTIONAL SIGNS ;LOCATION OF BUILDINGS WITHIN CERTAIN AREAS; DESIGN, 
CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE OF PERMITTED BUILDINGS; MAINTENANCE OF 
BUILDINGS AND VACANT AREAS; REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE OF COMMON AREA; 
AND PERMITTED SIGNS, CREATED, DEFINED AND LIMITED BY THAT CERTAIN 
SHOPPING CENTER RECIPROCAL EASEMENT AND OPERATION AGREEMENT DATED 
JUNE 20, 1991 AND RECORDED JUNE 21, 1991, AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 91303346. 

















 

 
 
 
Date: December 12th, 2019 
 
To: Village Board of Trustees 
   
From: Dominic Sanfilippo, Executive Assistant to the Mayor  
 
Subject: PACE Contract Discussion 
 
The Village of Tinley Park has contracted with PACE’s Paratransit Service for a number of years to 
provide one (1) ADA-accessible bus for its Dial-a-Ride Service for senior & handicapped Tinley 
Park residents; it annually pays PACE around ~$55,000 to do so. It also has operated a series of 
its own vehicles to complement the same Dial-a-Ride Service with a second vehicle. On October 
12th, 2018, the Village purchased its own bus for $68,563.00 (with $3,149.29 of Village branding 
graphics, for a total cost of $71,712.29) to complement the leased PACE bus for a total fleet of 
two (2) buses; one owned by the Village, and one leased from PACE. Both vehicles are lift 
accessible, and residents can book rides by calling Village Senior Bus part-time dispatchers, 
whose office is currently located in the Public Safety Building.  
 
The dispatchers run the buses on similar schedules, Monday through Friday during the morning 
& afternoon; however, the Village Bus can make trips outside the Village limits to neighboring 
communities for medical appointments. Reservations are asked for at least 48 hours in advance.  
 
The current contract for the PACE bus expires on December 31st, 2019. Estimates in the 
proposed 2020 contract that PACE sent the Village are as follows: 
 

• Revenue: $7,629 
• Total Expenses: $79,660 

o Operations: $72,023 
o Maintenance: $3,066 
o Administration: $4,571 

• Operating Deficit: $72,031 
• PACE Subsidy: $17,448 
• Local Share: $54,583 
• Ridership: 5,816 individual rides 
• Vehicle Hours: 1,3241 

                                                
1 PACE 2020 Paratransit Service Provider Propsed Agreement provided to the VoTP. 

Interoffice   

Memo 



 

To be able to drive either bus in the Village’s operation, a current CDL driver’s license is required 
with a “P” passenger endorsement, along with an extensive background check & requisite 
experience. PACE also requires drivers who operate any of its buses to go through their own 
certification and training process. Safety & professionalism are paramount for all Village part-
time drivers and dispatchers. The Village currently employs three part-time drivers and two part-
time dispatchers; additional staff is urgently needed at both positions. The hiring process is 
currently open and Human Resources has been receiving applications and (together with the 
Mayor’s Office) interviewing applicants as of the week of December 9th; successful additional 
hires are hoped for but uncertain as of this point due to a variety of factors.2 Departures of 
current employees from either position would leave the service not fully staffed and unable to 
operate at its current capacity. 
 
With staffing numbers uncertain over the next calendar year, the Mayor’s Office asked PACE 
whether a shorter-term monthly contract is an option; however, PACE affirmed that signing their 
standard January 1st-December 31st yearly contract is the only option.  
 
The Village has enjoyed & continues to enjoy a positive working relationship with PACE; however, 
in light of this staffing uncertainty going into the new year, the Mayor recommends forgoing the 
PACE contract for the 2020 calendar year while continuing to operate its already-owned Village 
Bus and a second interim vehicle as needed for the Village Dial-a-Ride service. Simultaneously, 
other long-term options can be explored in the 2020 calendar year, whether that be purchasing a 
full second bus depending on need, revisiting the contract with PACE at a future date, etc. It is 
important to note that the Village Bus will continue to service Tinley residents in any scenario. 
 
If the Village were to operate only its Village bus after December 31st, 2019, it would likely be able 
to continue to service at least 75% of its current rides with its one bus. There are also vehicles 
within the current Village fleet that could possibly be used in an interim capacity after January 1st, 
filling a potential gap if identified and needed. The 4 townships that cover the Village—Orland 
Township, Bremen Township, Rich Township, and Frankfort Township—all have their own dial-a-
ride transportation services, which currently serve & could continue to serve as an alternative 
riding option.3 PACE also runs regular, full-length bus routes through the Village (standard, non 
Village operated routes, not Dial-a-Ride.)  
 
If the Board potentially explores allocating space in the budget for purchasing a second Dial-a-
Ride vehicle for the Village fleet, it could have more capacity to operate these & other potential 
Village transportation services on its own in the future, potentially through its own distinct 
Transportation division, akin to many other municipalities who offer similar services. 

                                                
2 According to HR & office analysis, one potential factor that can be a challenge in hiring experienced & 
qualified drivers, in particular, is the part-time nature/wage of this position; many CDL-endorsed drivers 
who regularly keep their CDL licenses & passenger endorsements up-to-date drive in full-time roles. 
3 http://www.villageoffrankfort.com/live/resident-resources/dial-a-ride, http://orlandtownship.org/seniors/, 
https://www.richtownship.org/transportation, http://brementownship.org/senior-services  

http://www.villageoffrankfort.com/live/resident-resources/dial-a-ride
http://orlandtownship.org/seniors/
https://www.richtownship.org/transportation
http://brementownship.org/senior-services


  
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 
 

 
RESOLUTION 
NO. 2019-R-121 

 
 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE 
EXECUTION OF PARATRANSIT GRANT AGREEMENT 

 

 
 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
CYNTHIA A. BERG 

WILLIAM P. BRADY 
WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 

DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
Board of Trustees 

 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 
  



RESOLUTION NO.  2019-R-121 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE 
EXECUTION OF PARATRANSIT GRANT AGREEMENT 

  

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 

Counties, Illinois, did consider a bus transit agreement, a true and correct copy of such agreement 

(the "Paratransit Grant Agreement") being attached hereto and made a part hereof as EXHIBIT 1; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 

Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interests of said Village of Tinley Park that 

said Agreement be entered into by the Village of Tinley Park. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of 

the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois as follows: 

Section 1: The preambles hereto are hereby made a part of, and operative provisions 

of, this Resolution as fully as if completely repeated at length herein. 

Section 2: That this President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

hereby find that it is in the best interests of the Village of Tinley Park and its residents that the 

aforesaid "Paratransit Grant Agreement" be entered into and executed by said Village of Tinley 

Park, with said Agreement to be substantially in the form attached hereto and made a part hereof 

as EXHIBIT 1. 

Section 3: That the President and Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 

Counties, Illinois, are hereby authorized to execute for and behalf of said Village of Tinley Park 

the aforesaid Paratransit Grant Agreement. 

Section 4: That this resolution shall take effect from and after its adoption and 

approval. 



 

 
−3− 

ADOPTED this 17th day of December, 2019, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village 

of Tinley Park on a roll call vote as follows: 

AYES:   

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

APPROVED this 17th day of December, 2019, by the President of the Village of Tinley 

Park. 

 
 

   ___________________________________ 
       Village President Pro-Tem 

 
 
 
ATTEST:____________________________ 

Village Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 EXHIBIT 1 
 
 Paratransit Grant Agreement 
 

 

 

  



 
 

 

STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 

COUNTY OF WILL  ) 

 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 
      I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook and Will 

and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Resolution No. 2019-R-121, “A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF 

PARATRANSIT GRANT AGREEMENT,” which was adopted by the President and Board of 

Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 17, 2019.   

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 17th day of December 2019. 

 

____________________________________ 
       KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK  
 





















































































 

 

PUBLIC 
COMMENT 

 



 

 

ADJOURNMENT 
 


	121719 Cow Agenda
	120319 Cow Minutes Draft
	Item #2-Master Pole
	Item #3- 16200 Harlem Ave-Class 7a Reclassification
	Item #5- PACE Agreement
	PUBLIC COMMENT
	ADJOURNMENT

